No. 48166-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Marcus Thornton,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-03813-7

The Honorable Judge Jerry Costello

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court's instructions violated Mr. Thornton's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
2. The trial court erred by instructing jurors in a manner that relieved the state of its burden to prove the absence of self-defense.
3. The court erred by giving Instruction No. 25.
4. The court's aggressor instruction was not manifestly clear to the average juror.
5. The aggressor instruction improperly stripped Mr. Thornton of his self-defense claim even if he engaged in lawful conduct that provoked Ware.

ISSUE 1: The aggressor doctrine precludes a person from acting in self-defense if s/he provokes an attack through *unlawful* conduct. Did the court err by instructing jurors to disregard Mr. Thornton's self-defense claim, even absent proof that he acted unlawfully?

6. The aggressor instruction improperly disallowed Mr. Thornton's self-defense claim if jurors concluded his actions were reasonably likely to provoke an unreasonable belligerent response from Ware.

ISSUE 2: The aggressor doctrine does not protect unreasonable or unlawful belligerence. Did the court's instructions improperly strip Mr. Thornton of his right to claim self-defense if his actions were reasonably likely to provoke an unreasonable belligerent response from Ware?

7. The evidence did not support an aggressor instruction in this case.
8. The state failed to identify evidence of any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response.

ISSUE 3: Lawful conduct cannot constitute an "aggressive" act sufficient to warrant a jury instruction on the aggressor

doctrine. Did the court err by giving an aggressor instruction based on evidence that Mr. Thornton rode his bicycle on public streets looking for Ware?

9. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Thornton of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
10. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.
11. The prosecutor committed misconduct by displaying altered exhibits to the jury during a closing PowerPoint presentation.
12. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice.

ISSUE 4: A prosecutor commits misconduct by appealing to the jury's emotions and by displaying altered exhibits. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in Mr. Thornton's case by displaying a slide showing photos of Ware's bloodied body with an added caption reading: "What Does Murder Really Look Like"?

13. The prosecutor committed misconduct by "testifying" to "facts" that were not in evidence.

ISSUE 5: A prosecutor may not "testify" during closing argument to "facts" that are not in evidence. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by claiming that Mr. Thornton told Gardner he was going to kill Ware, when Gardner testified only that Mr. Thornton said he was not going to hurt Ware?

14. The court violated Mr. Thornton's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront adverse witnesses.
15. The court erred by prohibiting Mr. Thornton from eliciting evidence of witness bias.
16. The court erred by granting the state's motion to exclude evidence that some of the state's witnesses were in the same criminal gang as Ware.

ISSUE 6: An accused person has a constitutional right to elicit evidence that the state's witnesses are biased. Did the court violate Mr. Thornton's confrontation right by prohibiting him from introducing evidence that Scales (who testified for the state) was in the same criminal gang as Ware?

17. The Court of Appeals should decline to impose appellate costs, should Respondent substantially prevail and request such costs.

ISSUE 7: If the state substantially prevails on appeal and makes a proper request for costs, should this court decline to impose appellate costs because Mr. Thornton is indigent, as noted in the Order of Indigency?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Marcus Thornton is from Chicago but was living in Tacoma following his military service. RP (9/21/15) 814-815. He became loosely acquainted with John Ware, Jr., a member of the Hilltop Crips gang. RP (9/21/15) 814-815; RP (9/8/15) 28.

People in the neighborhood knew Ware to regularly carry a baseball bat around with him. RP (9/15/15) 544. One day, Ware asked Mr. Thornton if he could borrow his Bluetooth speaker to listen to music while he ran an errand. RP (9/21/15) 815-816. Mr. Thornton lent Ware the speaker, but Ware never came back to return it. RP (9/21/15) 816.

According to Ware's girlfriend, everyone knew not to give Ware anything electronic because he would sell it. RP (9/14/15) 430. But Mr. Thornton was not aware of that.

About a week later, Mr. Thornton saw Ware on the street and approached him to ask about his speaker. RP (9/21/15) 822-825. According to Mr. Thornton, Ware came after him with his baseball bat, and then drew a knife. RP (9/21/15) 825-826.¹

Mr. Thornton grabbed Ware's arms and they began pushing and pulling one another. RP (9/21/15) 826-827. Both men ended up on the

ground, with Mr. Thornton on top of Ware. RP (9/21/15) 828. Mr. Thornton had Ware's left hand – the one with the knife – in his hands. RP (9/21/15) 828. Eventually, Mr. Thornton broke away and rode off on his bicycle. RP (9/21/15) 831.

Mr. Thornton did not realize it, but the knife blade had stabbed Ware during the fight. RP (9/21/15) 827; RP (9/14/15) 329-336.² Ware died a few minutes later. RP (9/14/15) 344-346. The police found a baseball bat in the grass near where Ware died. RP (9/8/15) 124.

The state charged Mr. Thornton with second degree felony murder (with an assault predicate).³ CP 1-2.

At trial, Mr. Thornton sought to elicit that Ware and at least one of the state's civilian witnesses were in the same gang: the Hilltop Crips. RP (9/8/15) 23-30. Mr. Thornton explained that the gang evidence was relevant to show the witnesses' bias and affiliation with Ware and with one another. RP (9/8/15) 23-30.

Ware had a "Hilltop Crip" tattoo on his body. RP (9/8/15) 28.

One of the state's key witnesses, Christopher Scales, would have

¹ Others did not see the beginning of the altercation, but only saw the two struggling after the fight commenced. RP (9/15/15) 509-514; RP (9/16/15) 642-649.

² Another witness claimed that she saw Mr. Thornton punching Ware, and later saw that he had a knife in his hand while doing so. RP (9/15/15) 512.

³ The state also charged Mr. Thornton with premeditated first degree murder, but the jury acquitted him of that charge. CP 1-2; RP (9/24/15) 1081.

acknowledged that he was also aligned with the Crips. RP (9/8/15) 28.⁴

Mr. Thornton, on the other hand, was not from the area, was not associated with the Crips, and was relatively unknown to the state's witnesses. RP (9/8/15) 23; RP (9/15/15) 558.

The court did not permit Mr. Thornton to elicit the proffered evidence on cross-examination. RP (9/8/15) 30.

Ware's girlfriend, Rayneisha Gardner, testified that Mr. Thornton had been looking for Ware earlier on the day of his death. RP (9/14/15) 419, 426. According to Gardner, Mr. Thornton said he should follow her and wait for Ware to contact her so he could find him. RP (9/14/15) 432. She said that Mr. Thornton waited near her house for Ware to show up.⁵ RP (9/14/15) 434-435. Gardner asked Mr. Thornton if he was going to hurt Ware, and he said that he was not. RP (9/14/15) 432-433.

Two of Ware's friends, Patrice Sims and Anthony Thomas, testified that they witnessed the fight. RP (9/15/15) 509-514; RP (9/16/15) 642-649. They painted Mr. Thornton as the aggressor and claimed that he had been holding the knife. RP (9/15/15) 513-514; RP (9/16/15) 646-647.

⁴ The rest of the state's civilian witnesses – including those who claimed to have seen the fight happen – were also friends with Ware. RP (9/15/15) 490-491; RP (9/16/15) 626. One of the key prosecution witnesses was Ware's girlfriend. RP (9/14/15) 419.

⁵ Gardner also claimed that Mr. Thornton admitted to pulling a knife on Ware a few days previously. RP (9/14/15) 427. Mr. Thornton denied saying that. RP (9/21/15) 818.

Thomas said that he was the one who told Christopher Scales about what had happened to Ware later that day. RP (9/16/15) 671-673. He said Scales was surprised when he heard the news from Thomas. RP (9/16/15) 672.

Scales claimed that Mr. Thornton had admitted the stabbing to him immediately after the fight. RP (9/15/15) 563. Scales wrote a letter to the prosecutor from jail, asking for leniency on his own charges in exchange for this testimony. RP (9/15/15) 578, 581. The prosecutor's office ended up striking a deal with Scales, lowering his sentence in exchange for his testimony in a different case. RP (9/15/15) 583.

Mr. Thornton testified in his own defense. He explained that Ware had been stabbed accidentally while Mr. Thornton was defending himself. RP (9/21/15) 825-831.

The court gave an "aggressor instruction" over Mr. Thornton's objection. CP 110; RP (9/21/15) 927.

The instruction told the jury that Mr. Thornton was not permitted to act in self-defense if he provoked a belligerent response through any intentional act. CP 110. The instruction did not require that the intentional act be unlawful. CP 110. Nor did it clarify that the act had to be one that would have provoked a belligerent response from a reasonable person:

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create the necessity for acting in self defense and thereupon kill another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that the defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense is not available as a defense.
CP 110

During closing, the prosecutor showed the jury a slide with two photos of Ware's bloodied body lying on the ground. The heading above the photos read in large font: "What Does Murder Really Look Like." State's PowerPoint Presentation, p. 7 filed 09/24/15, Supp CP (emphasis in original).

The prosecutor argued that Mr. Thornton had set out that day to kill Ware. RP (9/22/15) 952-989. He claimed that Gardner had testified that Mr. Thornton had told her "I'm going to kill him." RP (9/22/15) 980. Gardner had not testified to that. RP (9/14/15) 432-433.

The jury convicted Mr. Thornton of second degree felony murder. RP (9/24/15) 1081. This timely appeal follows. CP 144.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT'S AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION MISSTATED THE LAW AND IMPROPERLY STRIPPED MR. THORNTON OF HIS RIGHT TO ARGUE SELF-DEFENSE.

When there is some evidence showing the lawful use of force, the state must disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v.*

McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 462, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). Jury instructions impermissibly lowering the state’s burden in a self-defense case violate the constitutional right to due process. *Id.*; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The court’s instructions must make the state’s burden of disproving self-defense manifestly apparent to the average juror. *Id.*

Here, the court’s aggressor instruction improperly stripped Mr. Thornton of his right to argue that he had acted in self-defense. It precluded Mr. Thornton from claiming self-defense, even if he “provoked” Ware through lawful action that would not have provoked a reasonable person. CP 110.

The instruction was improper and prejudicial. Lawful conduct does not strip a person of the right to self-defense. This is especially true where the attacker’s belligerent response is unreasonable or illegal.

The court’s aggressor instruction violated Mr. Thornton’s right to due process. It impermissibly lowered the state’s burden to disprove self-defense.⁶ *Id.*

⁶ Mr. Thornton objected to the aggressor instruction at trial. RP (9/21/15) 927. If, however, the court determines that these specific issues were not preserved, they nonetheless constitute manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 462.

- A. The aggressor instruction erroneously directed jurors to disregard Mr. Thornton’s self-defense claim even absent a criminally aggressive provoking act.

The “aggressor doctrine” derives from the common-law rule that a person who provokes a fight may not claim self-defense. *See, e.g., State v. McCann*, 16 Wash. 249, 47 P. 443 (1896). The common law has always required evidence of an unlawful (or “lawless”) aggressive act.⁷

When first published, the pattern jury instruction on the aggressor doctrine required the jury to determine whether the defendant created the need to act in self-defense “by any *unlawful* act.” Former WPIC 16.04 (1977) (emphasis added). However, the Court of Appeals found this language unconstitutionally vague unless “directed to specific unlawful intentional conduct.” *State v. Thompson*, 47 Wn. App. 1, 8, 733 P.2d 584 (1987) (citing *State v. Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. 120, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985)).⁸

The WPIC was subsequently changed to replace the word “unlawful” with “intentional.” *See* WPIC 16.04. This was an attempt to address the *Arthur* court’s concern that the jury could have considered the accidental fender bender in that case to be an unlawful act prohibiting the

⁷ *See, e.g., State v. Turpin*, 158 Wash. 103, 290 P. 824 (1930); *State v. Thomas*, 63 Wn.2d 59, 385 P.2d 532 (1963), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Rogers*, 83 Wn.2d 553, 520 P.2d 159 (1974); *State v. Upton*, 16 Wn. App. 195, 556 P.2d 239 (1976); *State v. Bailey*, 22 Wn. App. 646, 591 P.2d 1212 (1979).

⁸ In *Arthur*, jurors may have believed that the defendant was the aggressor because he was involved in an automobile accident. *Id.*, at 123-124. The Court of Appeals found that this was “not rational, reasonable, or fair.” *Id.*

accused in that case from claiming self-defense. *See Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. at 124.

While the switch from “unlawful” to “intentional” does address the specific facts in *Arthur*, it also significantly lowers the state’s burden by precluding a self-defense claim in any context in which an intentional – even if wholly lawful – act may foreseeably provoke a belligerent response.

For example, approaching a drug dealer to ask him/her to leave one’s neighborhood is an intentional act reasonably likely to produce a belligerent response. Starting a business next to a competitor is an intentional act reasonably likely to produce a belligerent response. Hosting numerous late-night parties after neighbors complain is an intentional act reasonably likely to produce a belligerent response.

None of these actions are unlawful, but all come within a literal reading of the aggressor instruction. The instruction’s language prohibits each of these actors from using force to resist an attack.

This is so even though Washington courts have continued to require that the aggressor doctrine be applied only in cases in which an accused person’s unlawful act provoked a fight.⁹

⁹ *See State v. Hardy*, 44 Wn. App. 477, 484, 722 P.2d 872 (1986) (“the jury, by treating the name-calling as an unlawful act, [may have] improperly denied Hardy her claim of self-defense”); *State v. Brower*, 43 Wn. App. 893, 902, 721 P.2d 12 (1986) (“Here, there is no

For example, the Supreme Court has held that “words alone do not constitute sufficient provocation” for an aggressor instruction. *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn. 2d 904, 911, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). The *Riley* court’s explanation rested, in part, on the “unlawful” force requirement inherent in the aggressor rule:

the reason one generally cannot claim self-defense when one is an aggressor is because “the aggressor's victim, defending himself against the aggressor, is using lawful, not unlawful, force; and the force defended against must be unlawful force, for self-defense.”

Id. (quoting 1 Wayne R. LaFare & Austin W. Scott, Jr., *Substantive Criminal Law* § 5.7, at 657–58 (1986) (footnotes omitted by court)).

Accordingly, if this court agrees with the *Arthur* court that the word “unlawful” in the previous version of the WPIC aggressor instruction is too vague, then some other language must be formulated to inform juries that a lawful – even if provocative – act is not enough to

indication Mr. Brower was involved in any wrongful or unlawful conduct which might have precipitated the incident”); *State v. Douglas*, 128 Wn. App. 555, 563-564, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005) (“The record [did] not show that Douglas was the aggressor or that he was involved in any wrongful or unlawful conduct.”); *State v. Stark*, 158 Wn. App. 952, 960, 244 P.3d 433 (2010) (lawfully obtaining a restraining order was not provocation that warranted an aggressor instruction).

Other decisions have upheld use of the aggressor instruction based on the defendant’s unlawful conduct, even where the unlawfulness determination was left to the jury. *Thompson*, 47 Wn. App. at 8 (noting that former WPIC 16.04 “is vague and overbroad unless directed to specific unlawful intentional conduct”); *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 193, 721 P.2d 902 (1986) (“the evidence of unlawful conduct was clear”).

deprive an accused person of the right to use force in self-defense if attacked.¹⁰

In this case, the jury could have believed that Mr. Thornton provoked the fight by riding around the neighborhood and approaching Ware to discuss his stolen speaker. As such, the jury could have read the instruction to say that Mr. Thornton was not entitled to act in self-defense even if Ware attacked him first with the baseball bat.

The instruction here lowered the state’s burden of disproving that Mr. Thornton had acted in self-defense. The court erroneously told jurors that Mr. Thornton was not entitled to defend himself if he provoked Ware—even if his “provocative” actions were wholly lawful.¹¹ *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 462. Mr. Thornton’s conviction must be reversed and his case remanded for a new trial. *Id.*

¹⁰ For example, the new instruction could require an “intentional criminal act” or “an intentionally assaultive act.”

¹¹ Division I has held that the instruction given in Mr. Thornton’s case was a proper statement of the law. *State v. Cyrus*, 66 Wn. App. 502, 510, 832 P.2d 142 (1992). But the *Cyrus* court only addressed a claim that the instruction was unconstitutionally vague. *Id.* *Cyrus* does not control Mr. Thornton’s claims.

- B. The court failed to instruct jurors that the aggressor doctrine only applies to a provoking act that is reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response from a reasonable person.

The court instructed jurors that Mr. Thornton was not entitled to act in self-defense if he had committed “any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response...” CP 110. The instruction did not require proof that the intentional act would provoke a belligerent response from a reasonable person. CP 110.

But the common law aggressor doctrine cannot be premised on unreasonable or illegal belligerence, no matter how foreseeable. If it were, it would grant those who are known to be bellicose, combative, and thin-skinned the right to attack others with impunity.¹²

The instruction given at Mr. Thornton’s trial was flawed: it failed to fully and properly set forth the aggressor rule’s objective standard. Specifically, the instruction did not require jurors to evaluate the reasonableness or legality of any belligerent response.

For example, a letter carrier who approaches the house of a person known to hate postal workers would be guilty of an “intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response.” Similarly, efforts to

¹² This is especially true if the “unlawfulness” requirement is eliminated as well, as argued above.

calm someone who is having an angry public meltdown might be “reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response.”

Here, the jury may have concluded that approaching Ware to ask about the speaker was reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, given Ware’s gang membership, association with the drug world, and regular habit of carrying a baseball bat. In essence, the instruction retroactively stripped Mr. Thornton of his right to talk to Ware without fear of being attacked.

Instruction No. 25 did not properly convey the aggressor rule’s objective standard. It stripped Mr. Thornton of his right to use self-defense even if his lawful act of approaching to talk about his speaker was likely to provoke Ware into attacking Mr. Thornton with a baseball bat.

The court’s aggressor instruction violated due process because it improperly relieved the state of its burden to disprove self-defense.

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