**NO. 48166-9**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MARCUS THORNTON, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Judge Jerry Costello

No. 14-1-03813-7

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
JASON RUYF  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT WAS RIGHTLY PRECLUDED FROM MISUSING SPECULATIVE EVIDENCE OF GANG TIES TO DISPARAGE HIS MURDER VICTIM AND A WITNESS TO HIS CONDUCT AFTER THAT CRIME.

A defendant's right to present a defense must yield to established rules of evidence to assure fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt. *State v. Donald*, 178 Wn. App. 250, 663, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013);

---

<sup>5</sup> E.g., RP (9/8) 39, 120; Ex. 26, 37, 126, 129.



*United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S. Ct. 1261 (1998); *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)); *State v. Acosta*, 123 Wn. App. 424, 441, 98 P.3d 503 (2004); *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992). Exclusion of evidence will be affirmed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. at 162; *State v. Kilgore*, 107 Wn. App. 160, 185, 26, P.3d 308 (2001); *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 710, 718 P.2d 407 (1986)); *State v. Kunze*, 97 Wn. App. 832, 859, 988 P.2d 977 (1999); *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008).

Defendant sought to show the victim and Scales were bound by Crip ties despite his admitted inability to prove their active participation in a Tacoma Crip gang. RP (9/8) 28-29. Defendant said he *thought* Scales said Ware was a California Crip and said he was no longer involved with a gang. *Id.* at 29. Defendant conceded he did not have an expert to explain any allegiance one might expect of an inactive Tacoma Crip and Crip from California. *Id.* at 29. The evidence was consequently excluded through an ER 404(b) balancing test. *Id.* at 29-30. Its "great risk of unfair prejudice" outweighed the low probative value of bias capable of being inferred from the speculative evidence of Crip affiliation. *Id.*

- a. This issue should not be reviewed as the Confrontation Clause claim raised on appeal was not asserted below and the evidentiary objection preserved is not reasserted.

Defendants are obliged to assert Confrontation Clause violations at or before trial to preserve them for review. *State v. O'Cain*, 169 Wn. App. 228, 235-36, 279 P.3d 926 (2012); *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 326, 129 S. Ct. 2527 (2009); *State v. Saunders*, 132 Wn. App. 592, 607, 132 P.3d 743, 750 (2006); RAP 2.5(3). Defendant did not object under the Confrontation Clause below, so review on that basis is improper. *O'Cain*, 169 Wn. App. at 235-36; *Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 326. Only an evidentiary objection was interposed, yet defendant does not challenge the ruling on that ground. RP (9/8) 28-30. The failure should bar review on the evidentiary ground as well, for this Court should decline to consider an unasserted claim, especially one unsupported by analysis or authority. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosely*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); *Raum v. City of Bellevue*, 171 Wn. App. 124, 149, 286 P.3d 695 (2012).

- b. The evidentiary objection defendant fails to reassert was meritless due to his inadequate offer of proof.

Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. ER 401-402. Evidence of prior bad acts to prove conduct in conformity is typically barred. ER 404(a). Evidence of alleged gang bias should also be excluded if its prejudicial

effect outweighs its probative value. *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 81-82, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009); 404(b); *see also* ER 403.

There were significant problems with defendant's proffer, each of which provided a reasonable basis to exclude the speculative theory of a Crip bond between Ware, a rumored California Crip, and Scales, a former Crip affiliate from Tacoma. Defendant did not show active Crip affiliation when the offense or testimony occurred. He also did not have a gang expert to explain the significance of the alleged connection. Such an expert would have likely exposed the unsound assumption underlying his theory of bias, *i.e.*, Crips from different regions and sets see themselves as members of the same gang. In reality, different Crip sets are often rivals. *E.g.*, *State v. Embry*, 171 Wn. App. 714, 768, 287 P.3d 648 (2012) (Tacoma Hilltop Crip fought Young Gangster Crip); *State v. Asaeli*, 150 Wn. App. 543, 561, 208 P.3d 1136, 1148 (2009); *People v. Ward*, 36 Cal. 4th 186, 195, 114 P.3d 717 (2005)("area ... associated with ... Lynwood ... Crips ... rivals of the Ghost Town Crips."); *United States v. Banks*, 506 F.3d 756, 759 (9th Cir. 2008).

Based on defendant's proffer there is no way to know if Ware and Scales developed a relationship in spite of a rivalry between the Crip sets with which they were allegedly aligned. Without a connection able to support a reasonable inference of bias, admitting the gang evidence would have only served to unduly cast Ware as a Crip unworthy of justice and Scales as a Crip undeserving of belief. At the same time, defendant cast

himself as a veteran, plainly to curry favor with jurors. The gang evidence was reasonably excluded.

- c. The exclusion was harmless if error as Scales potential bias was made clear through proof of his familial connection to Ware.

Exclusion of evidence is not reversible error if it is cumulative or of speculative probative value. *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 169, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). Unlike the speculative gang evidence, the familial connection between Scales and Ware was correctly admitted. Jurors learned defendant and Scales were acquaintances; whereas, Scales perceived Ware like a nephew-in-law due to Ware's prior relationship with Scales' niece. RP(9/15) 559, 597-99. It was the familial relationship which motivated Scales to testify despite the State's refusal to give him a deal in an unrelated case. RP(9/15) 581-82. That evidence permitted defendant to argue his "them against me" theory of bias in closing. RP (9/22) 990. Since the gang evidence was speculative and cumulative on the issue of Scale's bias, error attributable to its exclusion was harmless.

2. THE SUPREME COURT APPROVED FIRST AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION WAS PROPERLY GIVEN AS EVIDENCE PROVED DEFENDANT INITIATED THE VIOLENT ENCOUNTER THAT ENDED HIS VICTIM'S LIFE.

"[G]eneral[ly] ... self-defense cannot be successfully invoked by an aggressor or one who provokes an altercation..." *State v. Riley*, 137

Wn.2d 904, 909, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). "An aggressor instruction is appropriate if there is conflicting evidence as to whether the defendant's conduct precipitated a fight." *Id.* at 910 (citing *State v. Davis*, 119 Wn.2d 657, 666, 835 P.2d 1039 (1992)). Claimed instructional error is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 833 (1998). *De novo* review is applied to determine if there was sufficient evidence for an aggressor instruction. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 909.

- a. Defendant's unpreserved challenge to the aggressor instruction should not be reviewed.

Preservation of instructional error requires a specific objection. *Millies v. LandAmerica Transnation*, 185 Wn.2d 302, 310, 372 P.3d 111 (2016); *State v. Thorp*, 133 Wash. 61, 64, 233 P. 297, 298 (1925); *State v. Sanders*, 66 Wn. App. 878, 888, 833 P.2d 452, 458 (1992); RAP 2.5. This gives trial courts ability to remedy perceived errors, which reduces unnecessary appeals and retrials. *Id.* An unpreserved claim of instructional error should not be reviewed unless it is shown to be a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Id.*

The State proposed the pattern aggressor instruction, WPIC 16.04, approved by the Supreme Court in *Riley* and the Court of Appeals in *State v. Cyrus*, 66 Wn. App. 502, 509–10, 832 P.2d 142 (1992). CP 190-92; *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 908, 913-14. Defendant's objection to it was limited

to his claim it was not supported by the evidence. RP (9/21) 926-30. The trial court disagreed:

[T]here [wa]s substantial evidence in th[e] record that a reasonable jury could infer [defendant's] actions in pursuing ... Ware were intentional acts ... likely to provoke a belligerent response. ....

RP (9/21) 932.<sup>6</sup> Defendant never objected to the instruction's form. RP (9/22) 948-51; CP 110 (Instr.25). So it should not be reviewed on appeal as he has not explained how giving a Supreme Court approved instruction could be manifest error effecting a constitutional right. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 908, 913-14; *Cyrus*, 66 Wn. App. at 509–10; see *State v. Besabe*, 166 Wn. App. 872, 881, 271 P.3d 387 (2012). Failure to request defendant's *novel* revisions could not even support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Slighte*, 157 Wn. App. 618, 625, 238 P.3d 1112 (2011) *remanded on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 1003, 257 P.3d 1112 (2011); *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 336, 371, 245 P.3d 776 (2011). Review of the instruction should be limited to the preserved evidentiary objection.

b. The proposed revision runs afoul with the doctrine of *stare decisis*.

Appellate courts are duty bound to apply a valid statement of state law pronounced by the State Supreme Court. *Matia Contractors, Inc. v. City of Bellingham*, 144 Wn. App. 445, 452, 183 P.3d 1082 (2008). Our

---

<sup>6</sup> His objection to the "necessity" instruction was an extension of his objection to the aggressor instruction. *Id.* at 948-51 (Inst. 26).

Supreme Court approved WPIC 16.04 as an accurate statement of state first aggressor law. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 908, 913-14. Washington courts only overturn precedent if it is clearly shown to be incorrect and harmful. *State v. Devin*, 158 Wn.2d 157, 168, 142 P.3d 599, 604 (2006). Those constraints prevent incautious action. *Id.* Courts typically will not reach core questions of judicial business "unless ... indispensably involved in a ... litigation. And then, only to the extent ... so involved." *Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer*, 343 U.S. 579, 594, 72 S. Ct. 863 (1952).

Defendant's challenge should be rejected without consideration as it asks this Court to overturn well established precedent without making a clear showing prevailing understanding of first aggressor law is incorrect and harmful. Even if this Court perceived itself empowered to modify the Supreme Court's pronouncement of first aggressor law, it should refrain from doing so as the facts of this case do not require either of defendant's proposed revisions. Any tinkering required to address the hypotheticals he offers in support of his claim should await the day those scenarios actually appear in a record on review.

- c. Defendant misreads first aggressor doctrine to require the provoking act to be unlawful.

In accordance with Washington law, the trial court's challenged aggressor instruction advised the jury that:

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self[-]defense and thereupon kill another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense is not available as a defense.

CP 110 (Inst. No. 25); *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 908, 913-14. "[T]he initial aggressor doctrine is based upon the principle ... the aggressor cannot claim self-defense because the victim of the aggressive act is entitled to respond with lawful force." *Riley*, 137 at 912. It is not necessary for the victim to be confronted with a criminal act. As far back as 1916, it was understood one could be an initial aggressor through a wrongful act of aggression that was not unlawful:

Any *wrongful or* unlawful act of the accused which is reasonably calculated to lead to an affray or deadly conflict, and which provokes the difficulty, is an act of aggression or provocation which deprives him of the right of self-defense, although he does not strike the first blow.

*State v. Hawkins*, 89 Wash. 449, 455-56, 154 P. 827 (1916); *State v. Heath*, 35 Wn. App. 269, 271-72, 666 P.2d 922 (1983)("Heath blocked a doorway, refusing to let Weagley pass, and said ... very coarse words before Weagley hit him."); *State v. Bea*, 162 Wn. App. 570, 577, 254 P.3d 948 (2011); *State v. Cuellar*, 164 Wn. App. 701, 704, 262 P.3d 1251 (2011)("Cuellar began shouting and challenging the officers' actions ... then approached ... in an aggressive manner."). Whether "aggressive conduct" is provocative enough is left for jurors charged with deciding



when an act would be reasonably likely to start a fight according to that community's norms. *State v. Bartholomew*, 104 Wn. 2d 844, 849, 710 P.2d 196, 200 (1985); *State v. Wingate*, 155 Wn.2d 817, 823, 122 P.3d 122 P.3d 908 (2005) (WPIC 16.04 properly directs jury to decide whether defendant's acts precipitated the confrontation); *Green v. Am. Broad. Co., Inc.*, 647 F.Supp. 1359, 1365 (D.D.C. 1986).

- d. Defendant's unfounded paraphrase of the instruction is the only version containing the subjective test he wants removed.

Defendant claims a subjective test capable of creating an irrational-person standard is created by the aggressor instruction's phrase:

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self[-]defense[,]

CP 110 (Inst. No. 25). Without analysis of this text's syntax or citation to authority, he claims the phrase means:

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke *the alleged victim*.

App.Br. at 14. After creating his strawman-subjective standard, he restores the original objective standard with the revision:

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke *a reasonable person*.

*Id.* at 14-15.

The flaw in his argument is one of missing content. Unlike his paraphrase, the instruction does not link the likelihood of provocation to perceptions by the person provoked, for it neither expressly nor impliedly mentions the person provoked, much less makes application dependent on the idiosyncratic temperament of that person. It exclusively speaks in terms of acts reasonably likely to provoke, making it an objective test devoid of consideration for the target of the provocative act. *See Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 205, 905 P.2d 355 (1996).

Meaning is discerned through rules of grammar. *See Planned Parenthood of Great Northwest v. Boedow*, 187 Wn. App. 606, 621, 350 P.3d 660 (2015). Such an analysis proves the error in defendant's reading. The adverbs "reasonably likely" modify the verb phrase "to provoke;" this extends an objective test to the act's provocative quality. *See e.g., State v. Killingsworth*, 166 Wn. App. 283, 289, 269 P.3d 1064 (2012). Meanwhile, the instruction has the structure of a conditional sentence. There is a causal relationship between the conditional clause that describes the triggering event of an intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response and the main clause's consequent inability to claim self-defense. This familiar structure is used when only an objective quality of the subject or subject's conduct is relevant. *E.g., Sherman*, 128 Wn.2d at 205. *Huebner v. Sales Promotion, Inc.*, 38 Wn. App. 66, 73, 684 P.2d 752 (1984). Defendant's reading of the first aggressor instruction cannot be reconciled with its text.

- e. The instruction was also harmless if error as the alleged overinclusiveness had no bearing on this case.

Issuance of an overinclusive aggressor instruction is harmless if the error had no application to the evidence. *State v. Thomas*, 47 Wn. App. 1, 7-9, 733 P.2d 584 (1987). Defendant claims the instruction enables people to attack irrationally feared mail carriers for approaching. He also worries it might permit vagrant drug dealers to assault concerned citizens for approaching as part of a neighborhood watch. App.Br. at 11-12. While defendant's concern for the safety of law abiding members of the public is encouraging, the only aggressive conduct at issue in this case is the violent retaliatory attack he initiated after hunting Ware for the better part of an afternoon. So the way in which defendant claims the aggressor instruction can be overinclusive has no bearing on this case as his conduct was plainly an assaultive act that would support giving an aggressor instruction under even his unduly narrow concept of its application.

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